IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA  
Supreme Court No. DA 24-0469

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE POTTER  
EXEMPTION TRUST:

BETTY N. POTTER,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

CAITLIN WALL, AND JAMES STONE, as Co-Trustees  
of the Potter Exemption Trust, E BAR L RANCH, LLP,  
MARY POTTER VERO and WILLIAM S. POTTER,

Appellants and Respondents.

---

POTTER EXEMPTION TRUST, CAITLIN WALL,  
and JAMES STONE,

Counter-Petitioners,

v.

BETTY N. POTTER, MARY POTTER VERO,  
WILLIAM S. POTTER, E BAR L RANCH, LLP,  
and John Does 1-10,

Counter-Respondents.

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

On Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County  
Cause No. DG-21-91

## **INTRODUCTION**

Appellant Betty Potter (“Betty”), now 82 years old, has devoted her life to the conservation of approximately 4000 acres of pristine forest and ranch land near Greenough, Montana. Betty and her late husband, Orrin W. Potter (“Bill”), tended the land together for decades, creating the Potter Family Trust (“Family Trust”) in 2003 so that their land management practices and philosophy would continue when they could no longer serve as the land’s stewards. This appeal represents Betty’s effort to maintain her legal rights under the trust she created with Bill, in the face of an openly hostile trustee operating with a clear conflict of interest. The District Court overlooked critical facts and misapplied the law in allowing that trustee to effectively silence Betty in her twilight years and cut off access to information necessary to protect her rights as a beneficiary. The District Court should be reversed.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REIVEW**

1. Did the District Court correctly determine the trustees may withhold information from Betty, the sole current beneficiary and a co-settlor of the trust they were charged to administer, even when that information is relevant to the trust’s administration, necessary to protect Betty’s interests and to prevent or redress a breach of trust?
2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by denying Betty’s petition to remove a trustee, despite the trustee’s clear conflict of interest and open hostility toward Betty?

3. If the District Court did not abuse its discretion by denying Betty's petition to remove a trustee, did the District Court abuse its discretion in denying Betty's alternative request to appoint a third trustee?
4. Did the District Court err in approving a lease agreement entered into by a trustee with an entity in which the trustee has a personal financial interest?
5. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in denying Betty's request for attorney fees?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Betty initiated this action on September 27, 2021, by filing a Petition for Information and Removal of Co-Trustee after a newly-appointed trustee stopped giving Betty information she had always received, and after Betty and her accountant identified a number of red flags regarding trust administration. (CR 1.) On February 9, 2022, Betty filed an Amended Petition. (CR 14.) The Amended Petition sought information related to Betty's interest in the Potter Exemption Trust ("PET"), which was created from the Family Trust upon Bill's death. (CR 14.) The Petition also sought removal of Caitlin Wall ("Caitlin") as a Trustee of the PET. (CR 14.)

The trustees of the PET, Caitlin and Jim Stone ("Jim") (collectively, "Trustees") filed a Counter-Petition for Declaratory Relief, seeking court approval to continue serving as the only trustees after the death of the third trustee, George Hirschenberger ("George"). (CR 26.) They also sought approval of a lease agreement ("Five-Year Lease") they had entered into on behalf of the PET with

Caitlin’s employer, E Bar L Ranch, LLP (“E Bar L”), and a declaration to limit Betty’s rights as a trust beneficiary. (CR 19.1; CR 26.)

Bill’s children, contingent remainder beneficiaries Mary Potter Vero (“Mary”) and William S. Potter (“Spike”), filed a Response and Counter-Petition, challenging Betty’s efforts to remove Caitlin and asking the Court to assign their beneficial interest in the PET to Mary’s daughter, Juanita Vero (also an E Bar L partner). (CR 21.)

E Bar L filed an Answer and joined in the Trustees’ Counter-Petition on June 23, 2023. (CR 35.)

The parties moved for summary judgment on all claims and, on July 11, 2024, the District Court entered its Order. (CR 110.) Betty’s request for E Bar L’s financial information was denied. (CR 110.) So too was her request to remove Caitlin as a trustee or to appoint a third trustee. (CR 110.) Over Betty’s objections, the District Court approved the Five-Year Lease E Bar L had secured with the Trustees. (CR 110.) It also granted in part the Trustees’ petition for a declaration of Betty’s rights as an income beneficiary, severely curtailing her rights. (CR 110.) Finally, the District Court denied all parties’ requests for attorney fees. (CR 110.)

Betty filed a timely notice of appeal on August 8, 2024.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the 1920s, Bill's family and other partners founded the E Bar L guest ranch on land historically owned by Bill's family. (CR 57, p. 2.) Betty began working for E Bar L in 1962, but stopped in 1984 after marrying Bill. (CR 57, p. 2.) Together, Betty and Bill logged, hayed, fenced, and irrigated the land, and worked toward its long-term conservation in accordance with their deeply shared land management philosophy. (CR 57, p. 2.) In the decades Betty worked on the land, she earned a reputation as a hard worker and skilled land steward in her own right. (CR 57, Ex. C, Ex. D.) Even at age 82, she still yearns to work on the land and would do so if not for E Bar L's prohibition against it (even restricting Betty from clearing snow on her own driveway). (CR 57, p. 6; CR 91 at Ex. C, ¶ 30.)

In 2003, after 19 years of marriage, Betty and Bill created the Family Trust. (CR 110, p. 5; CR 57, Ex. E; CR 74.) They transferred 4000 acres (the "Trust Land") into the Family Trust, as well as Bill's 26.7% partnership interest in E Bar L, and their financial accounts, equipment, machinery and vehicles. (CR 110, p. 5; CR 57, Ex. H.)

The Family Trust instructs that even after Betty and Bill have died, the trustees "shall manage the Trust assets in a manner consistent with an[d] supportive of the historic land management practices and philosophy of the Settlers." (CR 57, Ex. F, p. 8.) The Family Trust will continue "at a minimum" for

the lifetimes of Bill's two children from his first marriage, Mary and Spike, unless the trustees, with the permission of Mary and Spike (if still living<sup>1</sup>), determine termination would be "in the best interests of the stated purposes of this Trust and consistent with and supportive of the historic land management practices and philosophy of the Settlers." (CR 57, Ex. F, pp. 8-9.)

Upon termination, the trustees may distribute the trust's assets to Mary, Spike, or their heirs, or to the Lubrecht Experimental Forest, or they may sell the land to a buyer who "will care for and operate the property in a manner consistent with and supportive of the land management practices and philosophy of the Settlers." (CR 57, Ex. F, p. 9.) Any sale proceeds would be distributed in equal shares to: the University of Montana, the Nature Conservancy, and Bill Potter's descendants, per stirpes. (CR 57, Ex. F, p. 9.) As with all decisions made by the trustees, the Family Trust requires this decision to be unanimous. (CR 57, Ex. F, p. 19.)

The Family Trust also recognizes that Betty and Bill's home is located on land belonging to E Bar L and directs that the surviving settlor may continue to reside in the family home "regardless of any wishes or demands of [Bill's] children." (CR 57, Ex. F, pp. 4-5.)

---

<sup>1</sup> Betty is close in age to Mary and Spike and may well survive them.

In 2008, after serving as the only trustees for approximately five years, Betty and Bill appointed Land Lindbergh, Jim Masar and Hank Goetz to serve with them as co-trustees. (CR 57, Ex. I.) Betty believed she would remain a trustee over Trust Land after Bill's death. (CR 57, p. 5, Ex. E, ¶ 15.) The Family Trust, upon Bill's death, divided into three new trusts: the PET, a Marital Trust, and a Survivor's Trust. (CR 57, Ex. F, p. 3.) The PET was funded with assets up to the amount exempt from federal estate tax, with the Marital Trust holding whatever other portion of assets was required to avoid federal estate tax. (CR 57, Ex. F, pp. 3-4.) Land Lindbergh, Jim Masar and Hank Goetz ("the Initial Trustees") were named to serve as trustees of the PET and Betty to serve as a trustee of the Marital Trust. (CR 57, Ex. F, p. 19.)

Betty's belief that she would remain a trustee over the Trust Land was well-founded because, at the time the Family Trust was created in 2003, the Trust Land's value dwarfed the federal estate tax exemption. As such, a portion of the Trust Land would fund the Marital Trust (of which Betty would be a trustee). (CR 57, pp. 5-6.) By the time of Bill's death in 2013, however, the exemption amount had increased substantially, which meant that no portion of the Trust Land was left to fund the Marital Trust, and Betty did not become a trustee over its

management. (CR 57, pp. 5-6.)<sup>2</sup>

After Bill's death, the Initial Trustees remained true to the Settlor's vision and valued Betty's insight and opinions on managing Trust Land, despite her not being a trustee of the PET. (CR 57, pp. 6-7; CR 84, pp. 9-10.) The Initial Trustees were open and honest with Betty, and shared financial information, including E Bar L's financials. (CR 110, p. 34; CR 74, ¶ 18; CR 84, Ex. D, p. 2; CR 91, Ex. C, ¶ 28.)

The Initial Trustees were also strong advocates for the PET's interests, having "real knock-down negotiations" with E Bar L regarding its lease agreement to use Trust Land. (CR 85, Ex. A, p. 4.) These negotiations would sometimes go on for months. (CR 85, p. 6, Ex. A, p. 4.) Land Lindbergh testified that when it came to E Bar L's lease payment, the Initial Trustees "were always trying to get more" for the PET, and E Bar L was "always trying to get less." (CR 85, Ex. A, p. 4.)

Because the PET holds a 26.7% interest in E Bar L, the Initial Trustees regularly received copies of E Bar L's tax returns and related financial documents, including profit and loss statements and balance sheets, and freely shared those with Betty. (CR 57, p. 7.) The Initial Trustees worked with Baiba Eastlick, a

---

<sup>2</sup> In 2003, the federal estate tax exclusion was \$1 million, and in 2013, it was \$5,250,000. (CR 57, p. 5 (citing 26 U.S.C. § 2010(c).))

certified public accountant, to prepare the PET's tax return. (CR 57, p. 7.) Ms. Eastlick was also the accountant for both Betty and E Bar L, so she was able to make sure the transactions which flowed from E Bar L to the PET and then to Betty were accurate. (CR 57, p. 7.)

As the Initial Trustees aged into their 70s, they decided to retire. (CR 57, p. 7.) The Family Trust provided that each trustee should select a successor. (CR 57, Ex. F, p. 19.) In 2018, the Initial Trustees appointed Jim, Caitlin, and George as their successors. (CR 110, p. 6.) The appointment of Jim and George did not raise concerns, but Hank Goetz chose Caitlin, an E Bar L employee with a clear conflict of interest, without consulting the other Initial Trustees. (CR 57, p. 8, Ex. B, p. 2.)

The problem with Caitlin's appointment was immediately apparent not only to Betty, but to Initial Trustee Land Lindbergh and the Initial Trustees' attorney, Greg Shultz. (CR 57, p. 8; CR 84, Ex. C, p. 3.) Caitlin has been an E Bar L employee since 2007. (CR 91, p. 18.) She is currently the Assistant Ranch Manager, oversees 18 E Bar L employees, and lives on E Bar L property full-time. (CR 91, p. 18.) She is one of the "key" employees who receives E Bar L financial information. (CR 91, p. 18.) As an E Bar L employee, Caitlin depends directly on E Bar L's partners (including contingent remainder beneficiary Juanita Vero) for her employment. (CR 91, p. 18.) Caitlin believes that E Bar L, the source of her livelihood, could not exist without the Trust Land. (CR 91, p. 18.)

Despite this conflict, the Initial Trustees believed having more than two trustees was important because it allowed for a diversity of perspective. (CR 57, p. 8, Ex. B, p. 2; CR 60, Ex. C, p. 18, Ex. G, p. 24.) They were also unable to find an alternative to Caitlin. (*Id.*) Betty decided not to object to Caitlin’s appointment at the time because there were two other trustees in whom she had confidence, and Betty believed that if Caitlin acted improperly, she could be removed. (CR 57, p. 8; CR 74, ¶ 22.)

The Initial Trustees resigned at the end of 2018, at which time Caitlin, Jim and George assumed their roles. (CR 110, p. 6.) Soon thereafter, Betty began having difficulty obtaining information, particularly from Caitlin. (CR. 57, p. 8.) Betty’s accountant, Ms. Eastlick, testified that unlike the Initial Trustees, Caitlin was evasive and often avoided answering her questions. (CR 57, p. 8.) Ms. Eastlick, also a certified fraud examiner, identified several “red flags” in E Bar L’s financial documents at this time as well. (CR 57, Ex. J, pp. 7-8, CR 85, pp. 11-12, Ex. S, pp. 4, 7.) The new Trustees, along with E Bar L, soon moved the PET’s and E Bar L’s tax preparation to a new firm. (CR 57, p. 8.)

Around this time, Betty received a highly unusual beneficiary tax document from the PET. It showed “0” for Betty’s trust income, which was “completely different” and “really unusual” compared to the prior tax documents she had received. (CR 57, p. 8; CR 84, p. 12.) However, when Betty’s accountant

contacted the Trustees' new accountant to try to make sense of the document, the new accountant refused to provide the necessary information. (CR 57, p. 8.)

After the new PET trustee George Hirschenberger died unexpectedly in 2022, Jim became the only trustee with whom Betty could meaningfully communicate. (CR 57, p. 9; CR 74, ¶ 33.) To make matters worse, Caitlin opposed the appointment of a third trustee to replace George, despite the Initial Trustees having appointed her because they believed there should be more than two trustees, and despite that being the Settlers' original intent. (CR 60, Ex. C, p. 18, Ex. G, p. 24.)

Not only did the Trustees' new accountant not provide Betty the information that the Initial Trustees had freely shared with her in the past, but when Betty requested information directly from Caitlin and Jim, they largely refused to provide it. (CR 57, p. 8.) Betty finally ended up filing her tax return, but to this day does not know if the information on which she based it was correct. (CR 57, p. 9; CR 74, ¶ 28.) Even after agreeing to a confidentiality agreement during the course of this litigation, the Trustees still refuse to provide E Bar L's financial information, including its tax return, which Betty needs to verify the accuracy of the PET's distribution documents she uses for her own tax return. (CR 57, p. 9; CR 74, ¶ 29; CR 91, p. 12.)

Of the two remaining Trustees, Caitlin is the only one opposed to sharing this information with Betty. Jim admitted in his deposition that while objecting to providing E Bar L's financial information to Betty is the Trustees' legal position, he has no objection to doing so. (CR 57, p. 12.) He apparently has given way to Caitlin's position because, given the animosity between those affiliated with E Bar L and Betty, he tries to avoid conflict and be "Switzerland." (CR 57, Ex. L, p. 4.)

Apart from severing Betty's access to E Bar L's financial information, Caitlin has become hostile toward Betty in other ways. (CR 57, p. 9; CR 74, ¶¶ 21, 33 – 35.) She refuses regular meetings with Betty, saying her relationship with Betty has become "very hard and complicated and sad." (CR 57, p. 9.) On those rare occasions when she does interact with Betty, she insists that a third-party to be present. (CR 57, p. 9.)

To further restrict Betty's involvement, Caitlin moved the PET's office from Betty's home to Caitlin's own home. (CR 57, p. 9.) Having the office in Betty's home had previously facilitated information sharing and communication between Betty and the Initial Trustees, but Caitlin is not interested in communicating with Betty. (CR 57, p. 9; CR 74, ¶ 20.)

Unsurprisingly, Caitlin also supports restrictions imposed on Betty by Caitlin's employer, E Bar L, which include prohibiting Betty from working on Trust Land, clearing snow from her home, or having any interactions with E Bar L

employees or guests. (CR 57, p. 10; CR 91, Ex. C.) The same restrictions are not imposed on any other Trust beneficiary residing at E Bar L – only Betty. (CR 57, p. 11.) In addition to demonstrating Caitlin’s open hostility, these restrictions interfere with Betty’s use and enjoyment of her home, to which she is entitled under the Family Trust. (CR 57, Ex. F, pp. 4-5.)

Caitlin’s dual loyalties to the PET and E Bar L has benefitted E Bar L – and apparently Caitlin – greatly. Before Caitlin became a PET Trustee, E Bar L had paid the Trust as much as \$95,000 annually for its use of Trust Land. (CR 85, p. 7.) With the Five-Year Lease Caitlin pushed through in 2022, however, the lease payment is now only \$50,000 (with annual adjustments for inflation) – the same as it was in 2011. (CR 57, p. 12.) Even one of the Initial Trustees who has been reluctant to criticize Caitlin finds such a low amount “surprising.” (CR 57, p. 12.) This lease payment is the primary source of the PET’s income, and therefore is the primary source of any PET distribution Betty receives. (CR 57, p. 11, Ex. Q, ¶ 13; CR 84, p. 11.)

Absent court intervention, this unjustifiably low payment is likely to remain in place for many years. Although set to expire in 2026, the lease has an automatic renewal term for two consecutive five-year periods unless the parties affirmatively choose not to renew it. (CR 57, Ex. P, p. 2.) Furthermore, despite the importance of the lease payment to Betty’s beneficiary interest, and despite the Trustees’

admitting the lease payment is based, at least in part, on what E Bar L can afford to pay, the Trustees still refuse to provide E Bar L's financial information to Betty. (CR 57, p. 11-12.) Thus, she is precluded from assessing whether there is any basis for this unusually low payment. (CR 57, p. 11-12.)

Betty filed her Verified Petition for Information and for Removal of Co-Trustee on Sept. 27, 2021. (CR 1.) On July 11, 2024, the District Court denied her any relief. (CR 110.) In its Order on the parties' competing summary judgment motions, the District Court found Betty had not made the required showing entitling her E Bar L's tax returns, related schedules, and E Bar L's profit and loss statements. (CR 110, p. 12, 14-15.) And yet, the District Court acknowledged Betty cannot learn of possible mismanagement by the Trustees without E Bar L's financial documents. It thus placed the proverbial cart before the horse – placing the burden on Betty to first identify some evidence of mismanagement (and ignoring the evidence she did identify) before she could obtain the documents to further support that evidence. (CR 110, p. 13, fn. 1.) The District Court also denied Betty's request to remove Caitlin as a trustee, despite Caitlin's conflict of interest, and granted Caitlin and Jim's request for approval to continue as co-trustees without a third trustee. (CR 110, p. 24, 26.) The District Court also approved the current Five-Year Lease over Betty's request to withhold any

decision until she could review E Bar L's financial documents. (CR 110, p. 30-31.) For the reasons set forth below, the District Court should be reversed.

### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

“Summary judgment rulings are subject to de novo review for conformance with applicable M. R. Civ. P. 56 standards and requirements.” *Kostelecky v. Peas in a Pod LLC*, 2022 MT 195, ¶ 17, 410 Mont. 239, 518 P.3d 840 (citation omitted).

Likewise, because Betty's right to E Bar L's financial information is based on the interpretation of Montana statutes governing the duties of trustees and rights of trust beneficiaries, the question is subject to de novo review. *Hulstine v. Lennox Industries, Inc.*, 2010 MT 180, ¶ 16, 357 Mont. 228, 237 P.3d 1277.

The denial of Betty's request to remove Caitlin as a trustee is reviewed for an abuse of discretion, as is her request to appoint a third trustee. *In re Baird*, 2009 MT 81, ¶ 11, 349 Mont. 501, 204 P.3d 703; *Ruegsegger v. Welborn*, 237 Mont. 317, 321, 773 P.2d 305, 308 (1989).

The voidability of the 5-Year Lease implicates Montana's statutory framework involving a trustee's conflict of interest and is thus reviewed de novo. *Hulstine*, 2010 MT at ¶ 16.

A district court's grant or denial of attorney fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *In re Guardianship & Conservatorship of A.M.M.*, 2015 MT 250, ¶ 18, 380 Mont. 451, 356 P.3d 474.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Betty was forced to bring this lawsuit in an effort to live out the remaining years of her life in peace and dignity, with the rights granted to her as the sole current beneficiary under the Trust she and her late husband created. The Trustees and contingent remainder beneficiaries of the PET may find her continued existence to be an annoyance best dealt with by effectively silencing her, but such treatment is contrary to Montana law.

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