# FILED

04/21/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA Case Number: DA 24-0469

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

#### Case No. DA-24-0469

IN THE MATTER OF THE POTTER EXEMPTION TRUST:

### BETTY N. POTTER,

#### Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

CAITLIN WALL, AND JAMES STONE, as Co-Trustees of the Potter Exemption Trust, E BAR L RANCH, LLP, MARY POTTER VERO and WILLIAM S. POTTER,

Appellees and Respondents.

POTTER EXEMPTION TRUST, CAITLIN WALL, and JAMES STONE,

Counter-Petitioners,

v.

BETTY N. POTTER, MARY POTTER VERO, WILLIAM S. POTTER, E BAR L RANCH, LLP, and John Does 1-10,

Counter-Respondents.

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

### ARGUMENT SUMMARY

Betty has not established any grounds for reversal. First, Betty is not entitled to E Bar L's financial information under Montana Code Annotated § 72-38-813, especially in light of its confidential nature and the circumstances surrounding the request. Second, the District Court properly refused to remove Caitlin as a Trustee, as no grounds exist to do so and her removal would not be in the interest of all PET beneficiaries. Third, the District Court was well within its authority to refuse to appoint a Trustee of Betty's choosing, which would be contrary to the PET's text and only paralyze the PET's ability to function. Fourth, there is no basis for setting aside the Lease. Finally, the District Court properly denied Betty's request for attorneys' fees and, the District Court should award the PET the attorneys' fees incurred in this appeal.

### ARGUMENT

Betty has raised five (5) issues on appeal, each of which is discussed in turn below.

# I. The District Court Correctly Concluded Betty Is Not Entitled To E Bar L's Confidential Financial Information.

Montana law requires the Trustees to keep the beneficiaries "reasonably informed" about PET's administration and to provide them with the "material facts," necessary to protect their interests under the PET. Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-813(1). This includes an obligation to "promptly respond to a qualified beneficiary's request for information that is reasonably necessary to enable" them to "enforce the[ir] rights . . . under the trust or to prevent or redress a breach of trust." Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-813(1). Upon request, the Trustees must also provide copies of any "applicable income, estate, or transfer tax returns relevant to the administration of the trust." Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-813(3).

However, these informational obligations are not unfettered, and there is a difference between the information available to the Trustees and the information that must, in turn, be shared with a beneficiary. The Official Comments to Montana Code Annotated § 72-38-813 confirm this, providing that a trustee need not make disclosures "forbidden by other law" or that are "unreasonable under the circumstances." The Official Comments also confirm the limited scope of a

beneficiary's informational rights, noting that a trustee's informational obligations can largely be met by providing the beneficiary with a copy of the trust's "annual report" or a copy of the "trust's income tax returns and monthly brokerage account statements." With this in mind, the District Court correctly rejected Betty's request for E Bar L's financial information.

The Trustees cannot lawfully share E Bar L's confidential financial information. Outside disclosure of E Bar L's tax return is forbidden by state and federal law. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 15-31-101(1), 15-31-511(1); 26 U.S.C. § 6103. As a Partner, the PET also owes its fellow partners a fiduciary obligation not to disclose sensitive financial information. See Mont. Code Ann. § 35-10-405(5); see also Jackpot Farms, Inc. v. Johns Farms, Inc., 2020 MT 311, ¶ 17, 402 Mont. 250, 477 P.3d 320. And, it is undisputed the E Bar L has restricted dissemination of such information to its partners only. Dkt. 65 at 15–16; Dkt. 81 at 5–6, Ex. C: Dep. Wall 170:8–183:19. This fiduciary obligation becomes especially important here as it is undisputed Betty has been in a longstanding feud with the E Bar L and the Trustees are validly concerned she will use such confidential information "in not such a nice way." Dkt. 84 at Ex. B: Dep. Stone 147:7–23. This alone justifies the District Court's decision on this issue.

Betty casts these issues aside, arguing that she needs such information to act as a watchdog over the PET, making sure the PET is getting its fair partnership Page 15 of 36 distribution from the E Bar L and that the E Bar L is passing enough income to the PET so that the Trustees can make discretionary income distributions. Opening Br. at 17–19. However, as a beneficiary, Betty is not permitted to scrutinize every piece of information the Trustees receive. Even then, discretionary income distributions to Betty have never been at risk—with Betty even requesting the Trustees lower the amount of the distributions they have decided to give her. Dkt. 60 at 16–17. As such, it appears Betty really wants such information just so she can fight with the E Bar L.

Further, the information is <u>already</u> available to Betty in other, nonconfidential formats. This includes the PET's own tax return, its entire Quickbooks file, the K-1 it receives from the E Bar L, and its monthly bank account statements. Dkt. 81 at 5, 9. As such, dissemination of E Bar L's confidential financial information is improper and, under the circumstances, would be unreasonable, not to mention inequitable. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-106 ("principles of equity supplement" Montana's Uniform Trust Code).

It is undisputed the Trustees provide Betty with far more information than any beneficiary could possibly be entitled to, including daily communications regarding every aspect of the Trust land and its management. *See, e.g.,* Dkt. 60 at 9, Ex. A: Dep. Potter 142:2–145:22; Dkt. 88 at 6, Ex A: Collection of Emails. For Betty, it appears nothing short of total unfettered access to every piece of Page 16 of 36 information available to the trustees will ever be enough. Dkt. 57 at 13 (arguing "it is difficult to conceive of <u>any</u> information regarding the Trust to which Betty would not be entitled") (emphasis added). Troublingly, Betty has boldly asserted that none of the PET's other beneficiaries—Bill's heirs—should receive any information about the PET at all. Dkt. 60 at 9–10. These unreasonable positions only further underscore the unreasonableness of her informational requests. Accordingly, the District Court correctly concluded that Betty's rights under Montana Code Annotated § 72-38-813 do not extend to E Bar L's confidential financial information.

# II. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Refusing To Remove Caitlin As A Trustee.

Montana law permits the removal of a trustee only under specific circumstances, none of which are present here. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-706. First, a trustee may be removed if they have "committed a serious breach of trust." Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-706(2)(a). Second, a trustee may be removed if they have "persistent[ly]" failed "to administer the trust effectively and impartiality," but only if "the court determines that removal of the trustee best serves the interests of all the beneficiaries." Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-706(2)(c). Finally, removal may occur where "there has been a substantial change of circumstance," but, again, only if "removal of the trustee best serves the interests of all of the beneficiaries and is not inconsistent with a material purpose of the trust, and a suitable cotrustee or successor trustee is available." Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-706(2)(d). The District Court properly rejected Betty's attempt to remove Caitlin on all three grounds, each of which is discussed in turn below.

#### A. The District Court did not abuse its discretion in determining that removal was unwarranted under Montana Code Annotated § 72-38-706(2)(a).

The only "serious breach of trust" Betty points to is the Trustee's unanimous refusal to provide Betty with E Bar L's confidential financial information. Dkt. 57 at 15–16; Opening Br. 25–26. Because Betty is not entitled to such information, the District Court's refusal to remove Caitlin on this basis should be affirmed.

Even presuming this Court concludes Betty is entitled to such information, however, it does not automatically follow that Caitlin has committed a breach of trust so serious to warrant removal. *In re Baird*, ¶¶ 12–13 (holding "not every breach of the trust requires removal of the trustee"). Betty has effectively conceded this—seeking only Caitlin's removal, not Jim's, even though the Trustees' withholding decision was unanimous (as all PET decisions must be).

The undisputed facts also confirm any withholding of information does not justify removal. The Trustees did not withhold E Bar L's financial information from Betty for any improper purpose, but instead on the advice of counsel and in adherence to the fiduciary obligations they owe to the E Bar L's other Partners. Dkt. 81 at 7–9. Critically, the Trustees argued in the District Court that "judicial guidance on this issue is necessary to ensure Betty receives what she is entitled to and the PET does not violate any fiduciary obligations it owes the E Bar L." Dkt. 81 at 10–11. Moreover, Betty has no evidence that Caitlin alone made that decision or that it was motivated by any improper purpose. As such, no abuse of discretion occurred when the District Court refused to remove Caitlin on this basis.

# B. The District Court did not abuse its discretion in determining that removal was unwarranted under Montana Code Annotated § 72-38-706(2)(c).

In the District Court, Betty offered two (2) arguments in favor of Caitlin's removal under Montana Code Annotated § 72-38-706(2)(c), which she reiterates on appeal, including that: (1) Caitlin's simultaneous employment with E Bar L and service as Trustee constitutes an impermissible conflict of interest; and (2) Caitlin has favored other beneficiaries over Betty. Dkt. 57 at 16–17; Opening Br. 26–31. The District Court correctly rejected these arguments, concluding that Betty had failed to establish the existence of a conflict of interest or that Caitlin had otherwise improperly favored certain beneficiaries over Betty. J.A. 1 at 16–22. The conclusions should be affirmed.

#### i. No conflict of interest exists.

Under Montana law, the Trustees have a duty of loyalty, requiring them to "administer the trust solely in the interests of the beneficiaries." Mont. Code Ann. Page 19 of 36

§ 72-38-802(1); *see also* Official Comment to Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-802(1) (adding that, consistent with Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-103(9), "[t]he 'interests of the beneficiaries' to which the trustee must be loyal are the beneficial interests as provided in the terms of the trust."). Recognizing this, Montana's Uniform Trust Code generally renders voidable, those transactions "affected by a conflict between personal and fiduciary interests," especially those between a trustee and any entity "in which the trustee . . . has an interest that might affect the trustee's best judgment." Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-802(2)–(3). The District Court correctly concluded no conflict was present in this case.

Critical to this entire analysis are the following undisputed facts:

- (1) The PET is a Partner in the E Bar L;
- (2) Bill's family founded the E Bar L; and
- (3) The E Bar L has been operating on Trust land for over 100 years and depends on the Trust land for its continued operation.

Any conflict-of-interest analysis must flow from the unique and longstanding historical relationship existing between the Trust land and the E Bar L. Indeed, when the Trustees interact with the E Bar L, they are interacting with an entity whose continued existence benefits the PET. There is nothing improper about this and, indeed, the Trustees are required to "take reasonable steps to . . . protect the trust property," including its ownership interest in the E Bar L. Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-809; *see also* Dkt. 60 at 14. In this way, there is no conflict between the PET's interests and the E Bar L's interests at all whatsoever.

Notably, Bill (along with Betty), continually brokered leases between the Family Trust and the E Bar L, permitting the E Bar L to use the Trust land for its operation. Only recently has Betty advanced any claim regarding a conflict of interest, despite the fact that when negotiating with E Bar L on behalf of the Family Trust, Bill was negotiating with an entity that his family founded and that he himself had held an ownership interest in.

Further, it is undisputed that Caitlin holds no ownership interest in the E Bar L, and instead works there as its assistant ranch manager, overseeing certain staff. Dkt. 81 at 15, Ex. G: Dep. Knox 57:16–58:10, 66:20–67:3. As such, Caitlin's "interest" in the E Bar L, if one could even call it that, is less than the PET's own actual ownership interest in the E Bar L. Relevant here, courts have refused to remove a trustee in situations where both a trust, and a trustee of that trust, hold equivalent interests in a subject corporation. *In re 1996 JBL Trust*, 30 A.D.3d 1131, 1132 (N.Y. App. Div. 2006) (removal of trustee not required just because trustee personally owned stock in same corporation that trust owned stock, absent showing that dual ownership was "detrimental to the trust").

And, as Montana law teaches, no conflict of interest arises when "the trustee establishes that" their conduct as trustee is "not affected by a conflict between Page 21 of 36

personal and fiduciary interests." Official Comment to Mont. Code Ann. § 72-38-802. Before the District Court, the Trustees did just that, offering undisputed evidence that Caitlin has never taken action as a Trustee that was influenced by her employment with E Bar L. Dkt. 60 at 13–14, Dkt. 81 at 15–16. Betty herself confirmed she had no evidence Caitlin had ever let her employment with E Bar L affect her Trustee decision making. Dkt. 60 at 10. Recognizing all of this, the District Court correctly concluded that Caitlin's employment interest in the E Bar L was not sufficient to rise to the level of a conflict of interest that would render her continued service as a Trustee improper.

Nonetheless, Betty argues that Caitlin's mere employment with E Bar L is sufficient to warrant her removal as a Trustee. Opening Br. 26–30. In doing so, Betty relies on various out-of-jurisdiction authority, none of which compels the result she seeks here. Opening Br. at 28. For example, Betty relies on the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's decision in *In re Holmes' Trust*. There, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court affirmed removal of a trustee who was employed by an entity that was in direct competition with a business entity in which the trust held an interest. 139 A.2d 548, 552 (Pa. 1958). Here, unlike *Homes*, Caitlin is employed not by a competitor. Rather, she is employed by the very entity in which the PET holds an interest. In *Brown v. Batt*, the Oklahoma Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of a trustee who brokered, on behalf of the trust, "an imprudent and unnecessarily risky venture," by leasing trust property to a farmer on a crop basis, and then "was hired by the [farmer] after he leased the farm." 631 P.2d 1346, 1348–49 (Ok. Ct. App. 1981). Here, unlike *Brown*, it is undisputed that Caitlin's employment with the E Bar L precedes her appointment as a Trustee, and Betty put forward no evidence that Caitlin ever pushed the PET into "an imprudent and unnecessarily risky venture" and then was hired by the party on the other side of that transaction. *Id*.

In *In re Conservatorship of J.R.*, the Montana Supreme Court disavowed a conservator's purchase of personal property, owned by the very person they had been appointed to protect. 2011 MT 62, ¶ 59, 360 Mont. 30, 252 P.3d 163. Similarly, in *Quinn v. Central Company*, the Ninth Circuit concluded that a trustee violated its duty of loyalty by selling its own bonds to the trust. 104 F.2d 450, 453 (9th Cir. 1939). The Arkansas Supreme Court, in *Hosey v. Burgess*, concluded that trustees had violated their fiduciary obligations to a beneficiary by continuing to lease trust land to themselves individually, and then subleasing the trust land for a profit. 890 S.W.2d 262, 266–67 (1995).

The principle espoused by these cases is uncontroversial—a trustee cannot "self-deal" and obtain a direct personal benefit from a trust transaction by selling their own property to the trust or acquiring a trust asset for their own personal Page 23 of 36

purposes. None of that has occurred here. In fact, the Restatement Second of Trusts echoes this fiduciary prohibition, but as the District Court recognized, extends it to more attenuated situations where a trustee "sells trust property <u>to a</u> <u>firm of which he is a member or to a corporation in which he has a controlling or</u> <u>substantial interest</u>." Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 170, cmt. c (emphasis added) (1959); J.A. 1 at 19–20. Caitlin has no personal ownership interest in the E Bar L, let alone a controlling or substantial one.

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